**RECEIVED**

**Apr 12 2021**

**SC Court of Appeals**

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM AIKEN COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable J. Cordell Maddox, Jr.

Case No. 2016-CP-02-00263  
Appellate Case No. 2020-001103

Robin Napier, individually and on behalf of all others similarly situated,.....Appellant,

v.

Mundy's Construction, Inc. d/b/a Mundy Construction,..... Respondent.

**APPELLANT'S FINAL BRIEF**

JUSTIN O'TOOLE LUCEY, P.A.

*/s/Justin Lucey*

Justin O'Toole Lucey (SC Bar No. 15438)

415 Mill Street

Mount Pleasant, SC 29464

Telephone: (843) 849-8400

*Attorneys for Appellant*

Mount Pleasant, SC

April 12, 2021

**

## **STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL**

- I. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN APPLYING AN UNREQUESTED, UNSUPPORTED, ILLOGICAL DAMAGE REDUCTION FOR WEAR AND TEAR, F/K/A USE AND DEPRECIATION?
  
- II. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN FAILING TO RECOGNIZE THAT THE BUILDING CODE IS A MINIMUM STANDARD GOVERNING CONSTRUCTION PRACTICES IN SOUTH CAROLINA, AND THAT IT IS THE PUBLIC POLICY OF SOUTH CAROLINA TO PROTECT HOMEOWNERS FROM GROSSLY NEGLIGENT AND RECKLESS CONTRACTORS AND SUBCONTRACTORS?
  
- III. DOES ADMITTED IGNORANCE, SYSTEMIC VIOLATIONS OF THE BUILDING CODE, AND SYSTEMIC VIOLATION OF THE PERMITTED PLANS, SINGULARLY AND COLLECTIVELY, MANDATE A FINDING OF GROSS NEGLIGENCE AND RECKLESSNESS, I.E., AN ABSENCE OF SLIGHT CARE AND AN ABSENCE OF DUE CARE WITH FORESEEABLE HARM?
  - a. DID THE TRIAL COURT, THEREFORE, ERR IN APPLYING THE STATUTE OF REPOSE TO BAR SIXTY-TWO CLASS CLAIMS AND IN FAILING TO CONSIDER AND AWARD PUNITIVE DAMAGES?

## **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

In 1996, the General Contractor Defendants (“ATC”) began developing and constructing hundreds of single-family townhomes in Aiken, South Carolina. These homes were located on streets that branch off of Spencer Drive off Whiskey Road behind the Aiken Mall and resulted in the below prior defective construction class action suits:

- a) Laubenstein, et al. v. Adiz, et al., 2010-CP-02-02873 (Aiken County, South Carolina);
- b) Martinez, et al. v. Adiz, et al., 2011-CP-02-00545 (Aiken County, South Carolina);
- c) Knight, et al. v. Adiz, et al., 2011-CP-02-02653 (Aiken County, South Carolina); and
- d) Marcum, et al. v. Adiz, et al., 2012-CP-02-03191 (Aiken County, South Carolina).

Each prior suit was successfully resolved on the homeowners’ behalf. (R. pp. 1091-1092.)

ATC constructed the Spencer Drive Extension homes with many of the same subcontractors, including Respondent Mundy’s Construction, Inc. d/b/a Mundy Construction (hereinafter “Respondent”, “Mundy” or “Mundy Construction”). The construction of all the homes is almost identical: most homes are triplexes built using nearly identical floorplans with little

material variation. All homes are approximately 1,100 to 1,240 sq. ft., 2-bedroom/2-bathroom units with vinyl siding, architectural shingles, single-hung aluminum windows, and slab-on-grade foundations.

**A.) The Spencer Dive Extension Townhomes**

The final four Spencer Drive neighborhoods at issue here, New Haven Lane, Amity Lane, Bennington Lane, and Hillsborough Lane (hereinafter, “Spencer Drive Extension”), were the last series of homes ATC built along Spencer Drive. Each neighborhood is one street, and the four streets adjoin each other. There are only three types of units in the Spencer Drive Extension neighborhoods: end units with a carport; end units without a carport; and interior units. Building permits for these eighty-six homes were issued between August 2005 and February 2008. These homes were completed between November 2005 and January 2009.

The Spencer Drive Extension homes have suffered many of the same latent construction defects as the neighborhoods in the prior litigation. These defects include vertical construction deficiencies (above-the-finished grade) and improperly prepared slab subgrade supporting soils. The inadequately compacted soils have resulted in settlement and cracking in the slab foundations (referred to as “horizontal construction deficiencies”) and consequential damages to the structure and finishes as the shifting radiates through the houses.

On February 12, 2008, Appellant Napier purchased her home on Bennington Lane. Defects manifested within the interior and exterior areas of Appellant Napier’s home that mirror the same issues as in the previous neighborhoods, including, but not limited to, issues with windows, doors, exterior cladding, sheathing, flashings, roof, slab-on-grade foundation, and driveway slabs, all of which require repair.

## **B.) Class Representative Napier Filed Suit on February 8, 2016**

Appellant Napier filed suit on February 8, 2016. (R. pp. 0049-0063, Summons and Complaint.) Appellant alleged two causes of action: 1) Negligence/Gross Negligence; and 2) Breach of Warranty. Suit was filed against ATC, numerous subcontractors, and the two sitework companies: Mundy Construction and Maddox Construction. Id.

Prior to trial, Appellant resolved all class claims except those against Mundy Construction.<sup>1</sup> These prior settlements did not resolve any of the issues related to the sitework that Mundy Construction performed. All claims against Mundy Construction remained for trial. (R. pp. 1091-1096, Appellant's Pre-Trial Brief.)

This matter was scheduled for date certain Jury Trial for the week of May 28, 2019. During the weekend prior to the commencement of trial, Mundy asserted that the case could not be completed within the allotted four days; therefore, the parties accepted The Honorable J. Cordell Maddox, Jr.'s offer of a bench trial and waived their jury demands. (R. pp. 3111-3113, May 27, 2019, Email Chain.) The bench trial lasted one and one-half days: from May 28, 2019, until mid-day on May 29, 2019. After Appellant rested, the Trial Court denied Mundy's motion for a directed verdict. (R. p. 1646, Ins. 17-19) At the close of trial, the Trial Court took the Appellant's Motion for Judgment as a Matter of Law under advisement.<sup>2</sup> (R. p. 1655, Ins. 11-12.)

The Trial Court invited post-trial position statements; both parties timely submitted these. (R. p. 1656, Ins. 19-22). Additionally, Appellant ordered the transcript of each party's principal witnesses: Dr. Rhett Whitlock, P.E. for Appellant; Tony Mundy, Sr., for the Respondent. When

---

<sup>1</sup> The Circuit Court granted final approval to two sets of these settlements prior to trial.

<sup>2</sup> Respondent made a motion as to punitive damages but simply "preserved" its other end of trial motions. (R. p. 1641, TR2.)

this transcript (hereinafter referred to as “TR1” for first transcript) was received, Appellant added transcript cites to her post-trial position statement and resubmitted it.<sup>3</sup> (R. pp. 1223-1228.)

On November 20, 2019, the Trial Court submitted a damage/setoff inquiry to the Appellant; Appellant responded on November 26, 2019. (R. p. 3123.) On February 4, 2020, the Trial Court indicated certain findings it wanted made and added to Appellant’s proposed order, with damages to be filled in later. (R. pp. 3132-3133.) Appellant submitted responsive material on February 27, 2020. (R. p. 2810.)

On April 14, 2020, the Trial Court issued its Order and Judgment, barring recovery for 62 class members based upon the statute of repose and awarding the remaining class members 10% of their damages. (R. pp. 0035-0041.)

On April 24, 2020, Appellant moved the Trial Court to reconsider its analysis and decisions and briefed her position with the motion. (R. pp. 1232-1365.) After Respondent tendered judgment to the twenty-four remaining Appellants, Appellant’s counsel moved to intervene several of the barred class members to represent that segment of the class should the Respondent negotiate a settlement of the “wear and tear” Appellants. Respondent submitted its oppositions to Appellant’s motions on May 4, 2020, and submitted a proposed order denying the Motion to Reconsider but amending the Trial Court’s prior findings to address one of Appellant’s complaints. (R. pp. 1366-1381.)

On June 15, 2020, The Honorable Clifton Newman began consideration of the Motion to Intervene, and then deferred to the trial judge, Judge Maddox. (R. pp. 1681, Ins. 6-24, June 15, 2020 Motion Hearing Transcript (“TR3”).)

---

<sup>3</sup> Note, TR1 mistakenly refers to the Appellant’s examining attorney as Mr. Floyd instead of Mr. Lucey. The balance of the Trial transcript is referred to as “TR2.”

On June 18, 2020, the Trial Court indicated that it was granting the intervention but denying the reconsideration and instructed Appellant's counsel to prepare both orders. Thereafter, upon the objection of the Respondent, the Trial Court indicated that it had located the Respondent's proposed order denying the Motion to Reconsider, while amending the judgment, and that it would enter that Order instead. (R. p. 3146, Court Email Dated June 18, 2020.) Additionally, the Trial Court instructed Appellant's counsel to limit the grant of intervention to participation in the appeal only. (R. p. 3146, Court Email Dated June 24, 2020.)

On July 20, 2020, the Trial Court entered its Order denying reconsideration and amending the depreciation and use reduction of damages to a "wear and tear" reduction. (R. pp. 0042-0043.). And on July 20, 2020, the Order permitting intervention for the appeal only was entered ("Intervention Order"). (R. pp. 0044-0048.) Both were received by Appellant on July 20, 2020.

Hereinafter, the April 14, 2020, Order will be referred to as "the Original Order." The April 14, 2020, Order, as Amended by the July 20, 2020, Order (which essentially changed "use and depreciation" to "wear and tear"), will be referred to as the "Amended Order."

The Notice of Appeal was filed and served on August 3, 2020.

### **STATEMENT OF FACTS**

Appellant's principal witness was engineer Dr. Rhett Whitlock, P.E. ("Dr. Whitlock"), who was qualified as an expert without objection. Dr. Whitlock's report, including his laser guided elevation surveys documenting the differential movement, and hundreds and hundreds of pictures, was entered into evidence (R. pp. 1762-2357, Ex. 708), along with his supplemental report as to the scope of repairs needed (R. pp. 2358-2359, Ex. 709; R. p. 1416, ln. 20 – p. 1418, ln. 9, TR1.)

Appellant published from the deposition of ATC's site supervisor, Hal Trotter ("Trotter"), principally as to ATC's reliance on Mundy, and the authenticity of the invoices approved by

Trotter showing what work Mundy performed. (R. p. 1686, lns. 9-14; R. p. 1687, ln. 21 – p. 1688, ln. 11; R. p. 1689, lns. 6-18.) Appellant also published from the deposition of the other site contractor, Maddox Construction. Appellant also called four homeowners, including Appellant Napier, to share their experiences with the cracking structures and to confirm pictures of their homes by Dr. Whitlock. (R. pp. 1565-1663, TR2)

Mundy Construction (“Mundy”) was a self-described Father-Son site contractor operation. (R. p. 1527, lns. 8-14.) Although the son (“Mundy, Jr.”) held the specialty site grading construction license for the company from the South Carolina Department of Labor Licensing & Regulation (“LLR”), it chose to call the father, Tony Mundy, Sr. (“Mundy, Sr.”), as its only witness. (R. pp. 1394-1663, TR1 and TR2.) Mundy, Sr., conceded the principal points of Appellant’s case which he had witnessed the day before. (See below.) He attempted to change his deposition testimony on several key points but was brought back to his prior concessions on cross examination. No other witnesses were called by the Respondent. (See below.) Respondent’s exemplar appraisals of the value of the Appellant houses were admitted into evidence by stipulation. (R. p. 1648, ln. 2 – p.1649, ln. 5, TR2.)

Nearly all exhibits were entered into evidence by stipulation at the commencement of trial (R. pp. 3101-3102.)

### **(Undisputed Facts at Trial)**

Then following facts were proven at trial:

- 1) The class consisted of eighty-six homes on four streets.<sup>4</sup>
- 2) The certificates of occupancy (“CO”) for the homes were issued between November 23, 2005, and January 16, 2009. (R. p. 2810, Ex. 991).
- 3) This suit was filed on February 8, 2016. (R. pp. 0049-0063, Summons and Complaint.)

---

<sup>4</sup> R. p. 1638, lns. 1-8, TR2.

- 4) Therefore, the COs for the homes on New Haven Lane and Amity Lane streets and most of the homes on Bennington Lane were issued more than eight years before suit was filed.
- 5) The COs for the homes on Hillsborough Lane and for two homes on Bennington Lane (151 and 155) were issued less than eight years before the commencement of this action. These twenty-four homes include six interior units, eleven end units without a carport, and seven end units with a carport. (R. p. 2810, Ex. 991; R. p. 2360, Ex. 722, R. pp. 1710-1711, Ex. 472.)
- 6) Mundy Construction was one of two site contractors that had prepared the subsoils on this site for construction.<sup>5</sup>
- 7) Mundy Construction had a duty to perform its work in accordance with the building code.<sup>6</sup>
- 8) Section 403.1 of the applicable building code mandates that “[f]ootings shall be supported on undisturbed natural soils or engineered fill.” (R. pp. 1763-1764, Ex. 708.)
- 9) Mundy Construction had a duty to perform its work in accordance with the site plans, which required that:
 

“ALL FILL SHALL BE PLACED IN 6 [INCH] LAYERS AND COMPACTED TO 98% MAXIMUM DRY DENSITY AT OPTIMUM MOISTURE.”<sup>7</sup>
- 10) Mundy Construction had a duty to make sure that the subgrade soils were properly compacted.<sup>8</sup>
- 11) The class members’ foundations are cracking and faulting due to inadequate support by the soils below, which is caused by inadequate compaction of the soils during site preparation.<sup>9</sup>

---

<sup>5</sup> R. p. 1548, lns. 10-12, TR1.

<sup>6</sup> R. p. 1548, ln. 13 – p.1549, ln. 12, TR1.

<sup>7</sup> R. pp. 2480 - 2482, Ex. 949 (enlargement of typical site plan notes). *See also* R. p. 1407, lns. 3-21; R. p. 1410, ln. 24 – p. 1412, ln. 2, TR1 (violation of building code); R. p. 1418, lns. 11-22, TR1 (describing compaction requirements in site plans).

<sup>8</sup> R. p. 1406, ln. 10- p. 1412, ln. 1, TR1.

<sup>9</sup> R. p. 1402, ln. 20 – p. 1403, ln. 4, TR1. For discussion of cause of cracking in pictures, see R. pp. 1435-1440 and R. pp. 1455-1470, TR1. For discussion of measurements of differential movement, see R. pp. 1475-1477, TR1.

- 12) The foundations of the homes throughout the class have experienced substantial differential settlement due to the improper preparation of the subgrade.<sup>10</sup>
- 13) The differential settlement has caused large cracks in the foundations throughout the class, which were documented in the photographs admitted at trial. (See, e.g., R. pp. 2530-2788, Ex. 963.)<sup>11</sup>
- 14) Dr. Whitlock documented the faulting foundations both by crack photographs and differential measurement surveys and collaborated his findings with the movement of stoops, patios, and other hardscapes and water line breaks. (e.g., R. pp. 1762-2357, Ex. 708; R. pp. 2530-2788, Ex. 963.)<sup>12</sup>
- 15) Dr. Whitlock explained his methodology of surveying the differential movement to the Trial Court at length. (R. p. 1425, ln. 11- p. 1426, ln. 14, TR1) (describing process of performing differential measurement surveys using a laser level in the homes); The laser level slab plotted measurements were admitted both in R. pp. 2388-2419, Ex. 821 and appended to Dr. Whitlock's report in R. pp. 1762-2357, Ex. 708.
- a. Laser measurements were performed in the interior of a sample of thirty-one (31) of the eighty-six (86) homes (circa 36%) across all four streets;
  - b. The laser level measurements showed substantial downward deviations in every home sampled.<sup>13</sup>
  - c. The measurements of the differential deflection indicated that the slab foundations were generally deflecting under the front and rear load bearing walls. This was consistent with the slab cracks on the sides of the triplexes generally being wider at the top. (R. p. 1427, ln. 25- p. 1428, ln. 24, TR1.)
- 16) As to the collaborative findings, Dr. Whitlock explained: "I observed cracking in a lot of different things, in the streets, the curb and gutter, sidewalks, driveways, many, if not all the driveways had cracks and the foundations, those were cracked. The cracks reflected up through the foundations and into the homes themselves and into the drywall and ceilings." (R. p. 1402, lns. 3-9, TR1. See also, R. p. 1435, ln. 5 to 1436, lns. 3-25) (describing separations between foundations and patio slabs and separations in interior trim and door molding that he observed); (R. p. 1437, ln 3 – p. 1438, ln. 1)(describing a front stoop that moved away and sank down from the foundation at the front door sill due to "poor compaction"); (R. p. 1486, ln. 16 - p. 1487, ln. 3, TR1) (describing evidence of water line breaks due to additional deficient sitework).

---

<sup>10</sup> R. p. 1402, ln. 20- p. 1403, ln. 14, TR1; R. pp. 0035-0041, Order.

<sup>11</sup> R. p. 1430, lns. 12-18, TR1.

<sup>12</sup> R. p. 1455, ln. 12 – p. 1470, ln. 12, TR1.

<sup>13</sup> R. pp. 2388-2419, Ex. 821 (WDP Slab Measurements); R. p. 1505, lns. 8-15, TR1; R. p. 1477, lns. 11-20, TR1 (describing how measurements of slabs showed downward deviations ranging from .5 to 2.13 inches and the typical displacement is over 1 inch).

17) Respondent did not offer a single witness (expert or layperson) to contradict Dr. Whitlock's opinions regarding defective compaction, causation, differential settlement, repair protocol, or repair cost.<sup>14</sup>

**(Mundy's Proportion and Scope of Work Performed)**

18) Dr. Whitlock testified and showed with the job site invoices that Mundy was paid \$278,186.36 for its sitework, which amounts to 63% of the total amount the General Contractor paid for the sitework across the class.<sup>15</sup>

a. The site superintendent (Trotter) initialed each Maddox and Mundy invoice verifying that the work documented in the invoices was performed. See Hallum, LLC, 30(b)(6) Dep. at R. p. 1694, lns. 11-14; R. p. 1695, lns. 4-7; R. p. 1698, lns. 2-14; R. p. 1699, ln. 17 - p. 1700, ln. 2 (designations published at trial).

19) Additionally, Dr. Whitlock testified that the evidence indicated that Maddox had a motor grader for street sitework, and Mundy did not. Since Maddox did the street preparation, Mundy's proportionate share of building pad site preparation (clearing, grubbing, cut, fill, spread, compaction, pad grading) increased.<sup>16</sup>

20) The Maddox published testimony evidenced indicated that much of Maddox's work related to non-building pad work (streets, retaining walls, utilities);<sup>17</sup>

21) Mundy, Sr., conceded that Mundy compacted all eighty-six building pads.<sup>18</sup>

22) In summary, the undisputed evidence was that Mundy did the majority of the sitework for the houses (clearing, grubbing, cutting, filling, rough grading, compaction) and solely did the soil compaction on all lifts for the eighty-six building pads.<sup>19</sup>

**(Concessions By Mundy, Sr.)**

Mundy's lone witness, Mundy, Sr., additionally conceded the following:

---

<sup>14</sup> R. pp. 1394-1663, TR1 and TR2.

<sup>15</sup> R. p. 1450, ln. 18 – p. 1451, ln. 14, TR1; R. p. 1452, lns. 2-21; R. p. 1453, ln. 17 - p. 1454, ln. 1 (describing process of analyzing invoices from both Maddox and Mundy to determine amount of compaction and other sitework that each performed).

<sup>16</sup> R. p. 1454, lns. 2-24, TR1.

<sup>17</sup> R. p. 0036; R. p. 1702, lns. 23-25; R. pp. 1712-1716; R. pp. 1727-1739; R. pp. 1756-1761.

<sup>18</sup> R. p. 1542, ln. 24 - p. 1543, ln. 1, TR1.

**Q. Mundy compacted the building pads on these streets, right?**

**A. Right.**

<sup>19</sup> R. pp. 0898-0920; R. pp. 1712-1756; R. pp. 2364-2387; R. pp. 2834-2884.

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