**RECEIVED**

**Apr 12 2021**

**SC Court of Appeals**

**THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS**

---

APPEAL FROM AIKEN COUNTY  
COURT OF COMMON PLEAS  
THE HONORABLE J. CORDELL MADDOX, JR.  
CIRCUIT COURT JUDGE

---

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2020-001103  
CIVIL ACTION NO. 2016-CP-02-00263

---

Robin Napier, individually and on behalf of all others  
similarly situated,

**APPELLANT,**

versus

Mundy's Construction, Inc. d/b/a Mundy Construction,

**RESPONDENT.**

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

David A. Anderson  
S.C. Bar No. 11550  
Carmen V. Ganjehsani  
S.C. Bar No. 73515  
James B. Robey, III  
S.C. Bar No. 102452  
RICHARDSON, PLOWDEN & ROBINSON, PA

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

---

<sup>2</sup> While the Trial Court did not use the term “reckless,” it found that Mundy Construction’s actions did not rise to the level of gross negligence or intent. [R.p. 39; Final Order, p. 5.] Recklessness is a higher degree of negligence than gross negligence; therefore, where the Trial Court did not find Mundy Construction grossly negligent, it is understood that the Trial Court did not find that Mundy Construction’s actions rose to the higher level of recklessness. See 18 S.C. JUR. *Negligence* § 9 (2012) (noting recklessness is higher level than gross negligence).

more than eight years prior to the filing of this action and thus was barred by the eight-year Statute of Repose.<sup>3</sup>

**II. The Trial Court, sitting as the factfinder in a case tried without a jury and who had considerable discretion regarding the award of damages, properly awarded actual damages to the non-barred Homeowners in the amount of \$240,000.00 which was supported by the evidence presented.**

Concluding that only twenty-four (24) units were entitled to the recovery of any damages, the Trial Court determined that the most damages which could be awarded based upon evidence presented by the Homeowners was \$2,211,688.00 (\$1,750,177.00 in repair costs plus \$461,511.00 for loss of use). [R.p. 40; Final Order, p. 6.] The Homeowners do not contest that valuation in their appeal for the twenty-four (24) units.

---

<sup>3</sup> In footnote 53 of their brief, the Homeowners assert the Statute of Repose is not available to Mundy Construction because it covered up the Homeowners' causes of action. The Homeowners assert no authority or citation to the Record for this conclusory statement and further did not receive any ruling from the Trial Court on this issue. This issue is therefore not only abandoned by the Homeowners, but also not preserved for appellate review. See Potter v. Spartanburg Sch. Dist., 395 S.C. 17, 24, 716 S.E.2d 123, 127 (Ct. App. 2011) ("An issue is deemed abandoned if the argument in the brief is not supported by authority or is only conclusory."); Wilder Corp. v. Wilke, 330 S.C. 71, 76, 497 S.E.2d 731, 733 (1998) ("It is axiomatic that an issue . . . must have been raised to *and ruled upon* by the trial judge to be preserved for appellate review.") (emphasis added).. [R.pp. 35-40; 42; Final Order; Order on Reconsideration.]

In this same footnote, the Homeowners also contend that the Statute of Repose does not apply because the building permits do not contain certain notice language that the Homeowners incorrectly contend is a precondition for enforcing the eight (8) year Statute of Repose. The language of the statute provides: "A building permit for the construction of an improvement to real property must contain in bold type notice to the owner or possessor of the property of his rights under this section to contract for a guarantee of the structure being free from defective or unsafe conditions beyond eight years after substantial completion of the improvement." S.C. CODE ANN. § 15-3-640. Again, this argument is not preserved for review because it was not ruled upon by the Trial Court and the Homeowners once again only make a conclusory argument regarding this provision. Nothing in this provision of the Statute of Repose prohibits a defendant from raising the eight (8) year time limitation as a defense. See S.C. CODE ANN. § 15-3-670 (providing the only limitations for when the Statute of Repose is not available as a defense).

Finding, however, that it was difficult to decipher what damage resulted from the construction defects associated with Mundy Constructions's scope of work and what damage resulted from other factors, the Trial Court found that years' worth of general wear and tear in conjunction with exposure to other elements reduced the amount of damages attributable to Mundy Construction. Accordingly, the Trial Court awarded damages to the Homeowners in the amount of \$240,000.00. [R.p. 42; Order on Reconsideration.]

The Homeowners challenge the damages awarded by the Trial Court and contend there is no support in the Record for the Trial Court's damage calculation. The Homeowners first argue the Trial Court had no authority to consider wear and tear of the units or other factors contributing to the damages experienced by the Homeowners because Mundy Construction did not plead this as an affirmative defense.

Under Rule 8(c) of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure, the only defenses required to be affirmatively pled are "accord and satisfaction, arbitration and award, assumption of risk, condonation, contributory negligence, discharge in bankruptcy, duress, fraud, illegality, injury by fellow servant, laches, license, misrepresentation, mistake, payment, *plene administravit* or the administration of the estate is closed, recrimination, release, res judicata, statute of frauds, statute of limitations, waiver, and any other matter constituting an avoidance or affirmative defense." Therefore, Mundy Construction was not required to plead the grounds for which the Trial Court based its damages award as an affirmative defense.

In addition, in its Answer to the Third Amended Complaint, Mundy Construction did give proper notice of this defense to the Homeowners. Mundy Construction denied

all material allegations of the complaint, including that it was responsible for any construction defects or damages or that any damages to the townhomes were caused by any actions of Mundy Construction. [R.pp. 84-85; Answer, ¶¶ 10, 13-14, 16.] It also maintained that any damages suffered by the Homeowners resulted from the acts of others, including the homeowners, and that the homeowners further failed to mitigate their damages. [R.pp. 85-86; Id. at ¶¶ 20, 23-25.] Therefore, the grounds on which the Trial Court based its damages award were properly pled as a defense to the Homeowners' claim, and the Homeowners had notice of such defense.

Mundy Construction also submitted evidence supporting the Trial Court's award of damages. In an action tried by the trial judge without a jury, "[t]he trial judge has considerable discretion regarding the amount of damages." Mellen v. Lane, 377 S.C. 261,275-76, 659 S.E.2d 236, 243-44 (Ct. App. 2008) (internal citation omitted). "Because of this discretion, [the appellate court's] review on appeal is limited to the correction of errors of law. [The appellate court's] task in reviewing a damages award is not to weigh the evidence, but to determine if there is any evidence to support the damages award." Id. (internal citation omitted).

The evidence presented to the Trial Court substantiates its award of damages to the Homeowners. The Homeowners submitted hundreds of photographs of the units at issue to the Trial Court. These photographs allowed the Trial Court to observe the overall condition of the units and observe the wear and tear to the units. [R.pp. 2484-2529; 2789-2833; Plaintiff's Exs. 953, 954, 955, 956, 957, 958, 959, 960, 962, 977, 978, 979, 980, 981, 993, 995, and 997.]

The Homeowners' expert, Whitlock, further acknowledged on cross-examination that every newly constructed home will experience some degree of settlement, and that every concrete pad poured, even under the best of circumstances and under the best type of platform, can experience cracking. [R.pp. 1496, ll. 12-18; 1498, ll. 11-15; Trial Tr. Vol. I, pp. 103, ll. 12 – 18; 105, ll. 11-15.] Therefore, the Trial Court could consider that not all cracking and related damages were caused by Mundy Construction.

Whitlock further acknowledged that South Carolina does experience multiple minor earthquakes each year and further recognized, after questioning, that a 4.1 magnitude earthquake occurred near Edgefield, South Carolina on February 14, 2014. [R.pp. 1512, l. 11 – 1513, l. 22; Id. at pp. 119, l. 11 – 120, l. 22.] He further conceded that some damage to door frames in the townhomes could occur from the slamming of doors. [R.p. 1514, ll. 13-17; Id. at p. 121, ll. 13-17.] All of the above is evidence that homes, overtime, can experience damage unrelated to the construction of a home. Therefore, the Record contains evidence supporting the Trial Court's calculation of damages which accordingly may not be reversed by this Court on Appeal.

Moreover, the Trial Court had before it appraisal values from a sampling of the townhomes showing market values of the homes ranging between \$87,000.00 and \$112,000.00 in October 2018. [R.pp. 2978-3080; Defendant's Exs. 4-9 (Appraisals).] The appraisals also showed there was either an increase in value from when the homes were either first sold or sold in the early 2010s or only a very slight decrease in value. For example, 138 Hillsborough Lane was appraised at \$87,000.00 in October 2018 and was purchased in August 2008 for \$96,610.00 therefore showing a decrease in value of only \$9,610.00 [R.pp. 2978-79, 2981; Defendant's Ex. 4]; 144 Bennington Lane was

appraised at \$87,000.00 in October 2018 and was purchased in February 2008 for \$94,200.00 therefore showing a decrease in value of only \$7,200.00 [R.pp. 3013-14, 3016; Defendant's Ex. 6]; 231 New Haven Lane was appraised at \$87,000.00 in October 2018 and was purchased in March 2011 for \$85,000.00 therefore showing an increase in value of \$2,000.00 [R.pp. 3030-31, 3033; Defendant's Ex. 7]; 116 Amity Lane was appraised at \$96,700.00 in October 2018 and was purchased in June 2007 for \$88,000.00 therefore showing an increase in value of \$8,700.00 [R.pp. 3047-48, 3050; Defendant's Ex. 8]; and 110 Amity Lane was appraised at \$112,000.00 in October 2018 and was purchased in May 2007 for \$104,900.00 therefore showing an increase in value of \$7,100.00. [R.pp. 3064-65, 3067; Defendant's Ex. 9.]

The Homeowners submitted evidence that the repair costs for the units was \$88,813.37, \$98,586.32, and \$106, 734.87, depending on the type of unit. [R.pp. 2468-79; Plaintiff's Ex. 940.] As such, the Trial Court had evidence before it that the estimated repair costs either exceeded or were nearly the cost of the unit's value and were well over any depreciation in value of the units.

While it is true that the cost of repair or restoration is a valid measure of damages for injury to a building, such compensation may be limited to the value of the building before the damage was inflicted. Scott v. Fort Roofing and Sheet Metal Works, Inc., 299 S.C. 449, 451, 385 S.E.2d 826, 827 (1989). The [factfinder] "is not bound to accept all the submitted repair costs when awarding damages." Id. Furthermore, "[t]he fact that testimony is not contradicted directly does not render it undisputed [because] [t]here remains the question of the inherent probability of the testimony." Black v. Hodge, 306 S.C. 196, 198, 410 S.E.2d 595, 596 (Ct. App. 1991). A factfinder is also not required to

believe a plaintiff's evidence of uncontradicted damages. Steele v. Dillard, 327 S.C. 340, 343-44, 486 S.E.2d 278, 280 (Ct. App. 1997). Even if damages are uncontested, the factfinder may consider other factors showing that the plaintiff is not entitled to the full amount of those damages, such as that the damages are attributable to other causes. Id. at 344, 486 S.E.2d at 280. The factfinder is free to disagree with the plaintiff's presented amount of damages. Id.

The Trial Court therefore had discretion to consider the estimated cost of repairs against the values of the properties and make a determination of damages based on that evidence in conjunction with the other factors as discussed above. The evidence presented to the Trial Court showed that the estimated repair costs exceeded or were close to the value of the units and were well above any depreciation in value. “[D]amages for defective construction, whether those damages are the result of a breach of contract or negligence of the contractor, [may be] determined by measuring the cost of repairing or restoring the damage, *unless the cost of repair is disproportionate to the property's probable loss of value.*” John Thurmond & Assoc. Inc. v. Kennedy, 668 S.E.2d 666, 668 (Ga. 2008) (emphasis added). When the latter is the case, damages may be measured by the diminution in value of the property. Id.

Based upon the appraisal evidence submitted by Mundy Construction, the most a unit decreased in value, when there was a decrease, was around \$9,610.00. For the twenty-four (24) units not barred by the Statute of Repose, the Trial Court's award of \$240,000.00 adequately represents a total diminution in value of the units based upon this figure (\$9,610.00 times twenty-four (24) equals \$230,640.00).

“The trial judge who heard the evidence and is more familiar with the evidentiary atmosphere at trial possesses a better-informed view of the damages than [the appellate court].” Rush v. Blanchard, 310 S.C. 375, 381, 426 S.E.2d 802, 806 (1993). Accordingly, this Court should affirm the Trial Court’s award of damages to the Homeowners of the twenty-four (24) non-barred units in the amount of \$240,000.00.<sup>4</sup>

**III. The Trial Court did not err in declining to award punitive damages where the Homeowners did not prove by clear and convincing evidence Mundy Construction acted with conduct that was reckless, willful, or wanton.**

The Trial Court further did not err in concluding that the Homeowners were not entitled to punitive damages. Having correctly found that Mundy Construction was not grossly negligent and did not act with intent, as thoroughly discussed above in Section I. of the Argument hereof, there was no basis for the Trial Court to award punitive damages. Punitive damages are only awarded “where there is evidence the defendant’s conduct was reckless, willful, or wanton” which must be proven by clear and convincing evidence. Fairchild v. S.C. Dep’t of Transp., 398 S.C. 90, 99, 727 S.E.2d 407, 411-12 (2012). Mere negligence, which the Trial Court found here, is not enough to support an award of punitive damages. Id. The Trial Court therefore did not err in failing to consider or award punitive damages to the Homeowners.

---

<sup>4</sup> In their Brief, the Homeowners offer discussion on depreciation and the useful life of a foundation. The Trial Court, however, in its Order on Reconsideration amended its initial factual support of its award of damages to clarify that it was not referring to the legal concept of depreciation or useful life. [R.pp. 40; 42; Final Order, p. 6; Order on Reconsideration.]

**IV. The Trial Court did not err in declining to find Mundy Construction liable on the Homeowners' breach of warranty claim because it already granted recovery to the Homeowners on their negligence claim based on the same set of facts; furthermore, the Homeowners abandoned this argument in their appeal by citing no authority and only making a broad, vague, and conclusory statement on the issue.**

The Homeowners further assert in their brief that the Trial Court should have considered its claim for breach of warranty.<sup>5</sup> This argument, however, that the Trial Court should have determined that Mundy Construction is liable for breach of warranty, has been abandoned on appeal because the Homeowner's argument is conclusory, not supported by cited authority, and otherwise vague. See Potter v. Spartanburg Sch. Dist. 7, 395 S.C. 17, 24, 716 S.E.2d 123, 127 (Ct. App. 2011) (“An issue is deemed abandoned if the argument in the brief is not supported by authority or is only conclusory.”); see also Jones v. Lott, 387 S.C. 339, 346, 692 S.E.2d 900, 903 (2010) (noting “broad general statements of issues may be disregarded by [the appellate court],” and the court should not have to “grope in the dark” to ascertain the precise points at issue), *abrogated on other grounds by* Repko v. Cnty. of Georgetown, 424 S.C. 494, 818 S.E.2d 743 (2018).

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